### IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

**KELLY WALLACE**, as Personal Representative of the Estate of

BRENDA WALLACE, deceased,

Petitioner,

Trial Court No. 05-2314-CA

SC08-149

5D06-4289

CASE NO.:

L.T. Case No.:

VS.

**ED DEAN,** as Sheriff of Marion County,

Respondent.	

On Discretionary Review From The Fifth District Court Of Appeal

#### **INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Mark A. Avera, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 812935 Avera & Smith, LLP 2814 SW 13<sup>th</sup> Street Gainesville, Florida 32608 (352) 372-9999/FAX 375-2526

Attorneys For Petitioner

Sharon H. Proctor, Esq.

Fla. Bar No. 012807 121 Civic Center Drive, Suite 307 Lake Saint Louis, MO 63367 Phone: (636) 695-4120

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

References to the record on appeal will indicate the volume and page number, and will be in the following format: (R.X: YY), where "X" indicates the volume number and "YY" indicates the page number.

References to the supplemental record on appeal prepared by the Fifth District Court of Appeal will be in the following format: (R-5DCA: YY), where "YY" indicates the page number.

### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. Under Florida law, one who undertakes to aid another, whether gratuitously or otherwise, owes a duty to exercise reasonable care in the undertaking. Two deputy sheriffs entered the home of a woman who was not responding to phone calls or knocks upon the door, to check on her condition. Finding the woman unresponsive, they left without calling for medical assistance. Did the deputies owe the woman a duty to use reasonable care in performing the well-being check?
- II. Governmental entities in Florida enjoy sovereign immunity from tort liability for discretionary, policy level functions, but not for operational functions. Is a Sheriff immune from liability if his deputies negligently conduct a well-being check, thereby causing a delay in medical treatment that results in death?

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The Petitioner, Kelly Wallace, as personal representative of the estate of her mother, Brenda Wallace ("decedent"), brought a wrongful death action against the Sheriff of Marion County, alleging that two deputy sheriffs negligently performed a well-being check on the decedent, resulting in her death in October, 2004. (R.I: 1-5, 51-57, 113-120). The trial court dismissed the second amended complaint with prejudice, holding that it failed to state a cause of action, and that the Sheriff was entitled to sovereign immunity. (R.I: 136-137). The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed with a written opinion, holding that the deputy sheriffs who entered the decedent's home owed her no common law duty of reasonable care. (R-5DCA: 4-11).

The second amended complaint alleges that the decedent's neighbor, Marjorie Ginder, called 911 requesting assistance when repeated phone calls and knocks upon the doors and windows of the decedent's home went unanswered.

(R.I: 114). Two deputy sheriffs responded to the 911 call. One deputy entered the decedent's home through an unlocked window and opened the door for the other deputy, Ms. Ginder, and Ms. Ginder's father. (R.I: 114-152). They found the

-

The facts stated herein are taken from the second amended complaint, which are presumed to be true for purposes of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action. *Aguila v. Hilton, Inc.*, 878 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA), *rev. den.*, 891 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 2004).

decedent in a bed in the dining room.<sup>2</sup> (R.I: 115). She was breathing but unresponsive. (R.I: 115). The deputies shook her vigorously and called her name loudly, but she remained unconscious. (R.I: 115).

When the neighbor suggested that an ambulance be called, the deputies rebuffed her suggestion and assured her that the decedent was only sleeping. (R.I: 115). Ms. Ginder's father suggested to the deputies that the decedent might be in a diabetic coma. (R.I: 115). One of the deputies denied that possibility, and assured the neighbors that a person in a diabetic coma will not snore. (R.I: 115). Having concluded that no medical care was needed, the deputies left without calling for an ambulance. (R.I: 116). The deputies left the door to the decedent's home unlocked so that Ms. Ginder could return to check on her again later.

Ms. Ginder reported the events and the deputies' statements to the decedent's daughter, the plaintiff herein, who had asked Ms. Ginder to check on her mother. (R.I: 116). In reliance on the deputies' assurances, neither Ms. Ginder nor the plaintiff took any further action at that time to secure medical help for the decedent. (R.I: 116). Ms. Ginder believed that the deputies routinely performed well-being checks, and she relied on the deputies' actions and statements about the decedent's condition. (R.I: 116). When Ms. Ginder found the decedent in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Fifth District's opinion incorrectly states that the decedent was "on the couch." (A: 2). The second amended complaint alleges she was in a bed that had been set up in the dining room. (R.I: 115).

same unresponsive state the next morning, she again called 911. (R.I: 117). An ambulance then transported the decedent to the hospital, where she died several days later without regaining consciousness. (R.I: 117).

The plaintiff sued the Sheriff, alleging that the deputies breached their duty to use reasonable care in conducting the well-being check and thereby caused the decedent's death. (R.I: 1-5, 51-57, 113-120). The trial court held that the Sheriff was entitled to sovereign immunity. (R.I: 136-37). The trial court also concluded that law enforcement officers have no duty to exercise reasonable care in the performance of a well-being check, and dismissed the second amended complaint with prejudice for failure to state a cause of action. (R.I: 136-37).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed, agreeing that no common law duty of care arose. (R-5DCA: 11). The district court of appeal did not consider the question of sovereign immunity.

On December 21, 2007, the district court denied the plaintiff's motion to certify this case as one passing upon a question of great public importance, (R-5DCA: 25), and Petitioner timely sought discretionary review in this Court. (R-5DCA: 27-28). By order dated May 28, 2008, this Court accepted review.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversibly erred by affirming the dismissal of this wrongful death action against the Sheriff of Marion County. Review is *de novo*. The decision on review held that deputy sheriffs who responded to a 911 call and entered the home of the plaintiff's decedent to check on her well-being had no duty to use reasonable care while doing so. The deputies found the decedent lying unconscious, and when they were unable to revive her, they left without calling for an ambulance.

The decision on review expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decisions in *Clay Electric Co-Op. v. Johnson*, 873 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 2003), and *Union Park Mem. Chapel v. Hutt*, 670 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1996), which recognized that one who undertakes to assist another, even when under no obligation to do so, thereby assumes a duty to perform the undertaking with reasonable care. That principle of law, sometimes called the "undertaker's doctrine," applies equally to governmental and nongovernmental actors. The doctrine is a well established part of Florida's common law, and was recognized by this court as early as 1909.

The Restatement (Second) of Torts, section 324A, provides that one who undertakes to render services necessary for the protection of another will be liable for negligently performing the undertaking if his negligence (a) increases the risk of harm, or (b) results in harm because of detrimental reliance by the person being

helped or a third person. This court applied the Restatement in *Clay Electric*, and held that a company that negligently maintained residential street lights would be subject to liability for the resulting death of a minor who was struck by a motorist. This court explained that the inoperative street light increased the risk of harm to pedestrians, and that the child's mother may have forgone other precautions for the child's safety in reliance on the company to maintain the street lights.

A duty arose here because the deputies' conduct increased the risk of harm to the decedent. The deputies undertook to determine whether the decedent was in need of medical attention, and their failure to use due care in doing so resulted in delayed medical care that increased the risk of harm from the decedent's existing medical condition.

A duty of care also arose here because the decedent's daughter and a neighbor, who had called 911, detrimentally relied on the deputies to conduct the well-being check with ordinary care. They also relied on assurances by the deputies that the decedent was not in a diabetic coma, but was "merely sleeping." If not for their reliance on the deputies, the daughter and the neighbor would have taken other steps to secure medical care for the decedent, and the delay in treatment would have been avoided. Because others refrained from acting, in detrimental reliance upon the deputies' affirmative assurances and undertaking, the district court of appeal erred by holding that no common law duty of care arose.

Absent from the district court's analysis was any discussion of the undertaker's doctrine. Instead, the district court relied on the public duty doctrine, which provides that enforcing the laws and protecting the public are duties which law enforcement officers owe to the public generally, and not to any particular individual. No specific duty to a particular individual arises from a general public duty unless a recognized exception applies.

But the plaintiff did not assert that the Sheriff's duty to the decedent arose from his general duty to protect the public. The plaintiff conceded that the deputies owed no duty of care *until* they undertook such a duty by entering the decedent's home to assess her well-being. The district court failed to recognize that the undertaker's doctrine gives rise to a common law duty that is separate and distinct from the general duty officers owe to the public at large. Its decision therefore expressly and directly conflicts with decisions from this court recognizing that "one who undertakes to act, even when under no obligation to do so, thereby becomes obligated to act with reasonable care." *Union Park*, 670 So. 2d at 66-67; *see also, Clay Electric*, 873 So. 2d at 1182. This court should therefore reverse.

The decision below did not address the question of sovereign immunity, because that issue was moot in light of the lower court's holding that no duty of care existed. This court should nevertheless address the issue because it presents a

dispositive question of law. The trial court held that the Sheriff was entitled to sovereign immunity from liability for the deputies' negligence. Governmental entities in Florida enjoy immunity for discretionary policy level functions, but not for operational functions. It is the nature of the conduct, rather than the status of the actor, that determines whether a governmental function is immune from tort liability. Discretionary acts—those involving issues of policy and planning—are entitled to immunity. Operational functions—those involving secondary decisions implementing policies or plans—are not. The performance of a routine check on a citizen's well-being is not the type of policy level discretionary function for which law enforcement officers enjoy immunity. The trial court incorrectly held that sovereign immunity bars this action, and this court should reverse and remand with instructions to reinstate the second amended complaint.

Finally, if this court reverses on the merits, it should also reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal's order denying the plaintiff's request for provisional appellate attorney's fees, and remand with instructions that the fees be awarded, conditioned upon the plaintiff successfully obtaining a final judgment in an amount that would create a statutory entitlement to fees.

#### **JURISDICTION**

This is an appeal from a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirming the trial court's dismissal of a wrongful death claim against the Sheriff of Marion County. The trial court dismissed on two grounds: (1) that deputy sheriffs conducting a well-being check in response to a 911 call had no duty to exercise reasonable care, and (2) that the Sheriff was entitled to sovereign immunity. The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed on the first ground, finding no duty of care was owed. It did not reach the second ground.

Discretionary jurisdiction arises under section 3(b)(3), Article V of the Florida Constitution, because the decision below directly affects a class of constitutional officers, specifically Sheriffs. *See* § 3(b)(3), Art. V, Fla. Const.; *Everette v. Fla. Dept. of Children and Families*, 961 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 2007). Jurisdiction also arises because the decision on review expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decisions in *Clay Electric Co-Op. v. Johnson*, 873 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 2003), and *Union Park Mem. Chapel v. Hutt*, 670 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1996), and with decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in *Florida First Nat'l Bank of Jacksonville v. City of Jacksonville*, 310 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1975), and *Hartley v. Floyd*, 512 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA), *rev. den.*, 518 So. 2d 1275 (Fla. 1987), on the same question of law. *See* § 3(b)(3), Art. V, Fla. Const.; *State v. Vickery*, 961 So. 2d 309, 311 (Fla. 2007).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The District Court of Appeal Erred By Holding That No Duty of Care Arose When Deputy Sheriffs Entered The Home Of An Unconscious Citizen To Check On Her Well-Being And Left Without Reviving Her Or Calling For Medical Assistance.

#### A. Standard Of Review

The *de novo* standard of review applies to an order dismissing a complaint for failure to state a cause of action. *Siegle v. Progressive Consumers Ins. Co.*, 819 So. 2d 732, 734 (Fla. 2002); *Aguila v. Hilton, Inc.*, 878 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA), *rev. den.*, 891 So. 2d 549 (Fla. 2004). Whether a duty of care exists in a negligence action is a question of law. *McCain v. Fla. Power Corp.*, 593 So. 2d 500, 502 (Fla. 1992). When determining the appropriateness of an order dismissing a complaint based on a finding that no legal duty existed, an appellate accepts the complaint's allegations as true. *Aguila*, 878 So. 2d at 395.

B. Officers Have A Duty To Use Reasonable Care When They Undertake To Assist A Citizen By Entering Her Home Uninvited To Check On Her Well-Being.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal erred by holding that no common law duty of care arose when two Marion County deputy sheriffs responded to a 911 call and entered the home of the decedent, Brenda Wallace, to check on her well-being. The district court held that, "if law enforcement officers undertake a well-being check, and, during the course of that check, they discover a person wholly

dependent upon them for emergency aid," they have no affirmative duty to render that aid or call for medical assistance. (R-5DCA: 9). That decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Clay Electric Co-Op. v. Johnson*, 873 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 2003), and *Union Park Mem. Chapel v. Hutt*, 670 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1996), and with decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in *Florida First Nat'l Bank of Jacksonville v. City of Jacksonville*, 310 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), and *Hartley v. Floyd*, 512 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rev. den.*, 518 So. 2d 1275 (Fla. 1987).

### 1. Duty Arising Under A Voluntary Undertaking

By holding that no duty of care was owed, the district court failed to follow a long-established tenet of Florida law known as the "undertaker's doctrine." The doctrine provides: "Whenever one undertakes to provide a service to others, whether one does so gratuitously or by contract, the individual who undertakes to provide the service—i.e. the 'undertaker'—thereby *assumes a duty to act carefully* and to not put others at an undue risk of harm." *Clay Electric*, 873 So. 2d at 1186 (emphasis added). This Court applied the doctrine in *Union Park* to find that a funeral director who undertook to organize and lead a funeral procession thereby assumed a duty to use reasonable care in doing so. *Union Park*, 670 So. 2d at 66-67. This court explained, "It is clearly established that one who undertakes to act, even when under no obligation to do so, thereby becomes obligated to act with

reasonable care." *Id.* Thus, although the Sheriff's department had no legal duty to investigate the decedent's failure to answer her phone and her door, once it undertook the mission it had a duty to conduct it with reasonable care.

The doctrine is a well-established part of Florida law. *See, e.g., Horton v. Freeman,* 917 So. 2d 1064, 1067 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2006)(finding that a duty of care arose when a couple voluntarily assumed the care of a minor); *Estate of Massad v. Granzow,* 886 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004)(applying the undertaker's doctrine to impose a duty of care on a defendant who came to the aid of an intoxicated person); *Vendola v. Southern Bell Tel. and Tel. Co.,* 474 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1985)(noting that this court recognized the undertaker's doctrine as long ago as 1909); *see also, Hartley,* 512 So. 2d at 1022; *Dept. of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles v. Kropff,* 491 So. 2d 1252 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); *Florida First Nat'l Bank,* 310 So. 2d at 19.

The doctrine applies to both governmental and non-governmental actors. Clay Electric, 873 So. 2d at 1186. For example, when a police officer undertakes to secure an accident scene, a duty is imposed upon him to do so with reasonable care. Kropff, 491 So. 2d at 1255. The First District Court of Appeal applied the doctrine to a law enforcement officer in Hartley, 512 So. 2d at 1022. There, a sheriff promised to check the local boat ramp for a missing husband's boat trailer, but failed to do so. The Sheriff nevertheless reported to the wife that he had

checked and saw no signs of the trailer. *Id.* at 1023-24. The First District held that, having voluntarily assumed the undertaking, the Sheriff "had an obligation to carry it out with reasonable care." *Id.* at 1024. The First District applied the doctrine to municipal employees in *Florida First Nat'l Bank*, which held that officers who investigated complaints that specific children were being abused owed the children a duty to use reasonable care by conducting their investigation in a non-negligent manner. *Florida First Nat'l Bank*, 310 So. 2d at 27.

The doctrine was most recently defined by this court in *Clay Electric*, 873 So. 2d at 1182. There, a minor pedestrian was killed when struck by a vehicle in an area with an inoperative street light. *Clay Electric*, 873 So. 2d at 1182. In the ensuing wrongful death action against the company that maintained the lights, the trial court granted summary judgment for the defendant, finding no common law duty of care. *Id.* The district court of appeal reversed. *Id.* at 1183. This court granted review, and held that when the company undertook to maintain the lights, it assumed a common law duty to third persons to do so with reasonable care. *Id.* at 1185-86. This court explained that the defendant should have foreseen that proper maintenance was necessary for the protection of pedestrians, because children regularly walked past the area on their way to the school bus. *Id.* at 1187.

In so holding, this court relied on section 324A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965).<sup>3</sup> Section 324A provides:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of a third person or his things, is subject to liability to the third person for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to protect his undertaking if:

- (a) his failure to exercise reasonable care increases the risk of such harm, or
- (b)he has undertaken to perform a duty owed by the other to the third person, or
- (c) the harm is suffered because of reliance of the other or the third person upon the undertaking.

Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 324A.

This case comes within the parameters of the doctrine as expressed in the Restatement. The second amended complaint alleges that the plaintiff, Kelly Wallace ("plaintiff"), became concerned when her mother, Brenda Wallace ("decedent"), did not answer repeated phone calls. The plaintiff contacted her

324); and *Estate of Massad*, 886 So. 2d at 1051 (citing section 324).

13

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