#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

<b>KELLY WALLACE</b> , as Personal	CASE NO.: SC08-149		
Representative of the Estate of			
BRENDA WALLACE, deceased,	Lower Tribunal		
	Case No.:5D06-4289		
Petitioner,			
VS.			
<b>ED DEAN</b> , as Sheriff of Marion County,			
Respondent.			
•	/		
On Discretionary Review From The Fifth District Court Of Appeal			

#### **ANSWER BRIEF**

### Bruce R. Bogan, Esq.

Fla. Bar No. 599565
Hilyard, Bogan, & Palmer, P.A.
Post Office Box 4973
Orlando Fl 32802-4973
Telephone (407) 425-4251
Facsimile (407) 841-8431
Email: bbogan@hilyardlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Respondent, ED DEAN as Sheriff of Marion County

###

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

The facts of *First National Bank* are not similar to the facts alleged in this case. If the Court had a constitutional basis for exercising jurisdiction in *First National Bank*, it is possible, based on the courts opinion and Justice Boyd's dissent, that the appellate court's decision on which the Petitioner relies may not have been approved. See *Jacksonville v. Florida First Nat'l Bank*, 339 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 1976).

Lastly, the Petitioner alleges that lower court's decision in this case expressly and directly conflicts with *Hartley v. Floyd*, 512 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), *rev. den.*, 518 So.2d 1275 (Fla. 1987). The *Hartley* case is clearly distinguishable and not applicable to the circumstances existing in this case. The plaintiff, in *Hartley*, called the police when her husband was several hours overdue returning from a two day fishing trip with four of his friends. *Id.* at 1023. The deputy promised to go to the boat ramp where Floyd's vehicle and boat trailer were parked and to notify the Coast Guard. *Id.* Not only did he fail to do either of those promised undertakings, he told Mrs. Floyd that he checked the boat ramp and

her husband's truck was not there. *Id.* In reliance on these assurances and representations, the wife delayed calling the Coast Guard, as she had assumed, her husband had returned and was on his way home. *Id.* at 1024. Based upon the misrepresentations and assurances made to the plaintiff, a nine hour delay occurred in the rescue operation. *Id.* 

Clearly, the *Hartley* decision is distinguishable from the facts of this case. The misrepresentation by the deputy to the plaintiff caused the plaintiff to delay notifying the Coast Guard. The deputy's failure to check the boat ramp, coupled with his misrepresentation to the plaintiff that he did perform as promised, illustrated his lack of reasonable care. The instant case is distinguishable from Hartley in several ways. First, the Marion County Sheriff's Deputies did not agree or promise the Petitioner or the deceased anything and only responded to a well being check made by the neighbor. Secondly, once the Marion County Sheriff's Deputies arrived at the scene and they checked on Ms. Wallace by gaining access to her home through a window, they observed Ms. Wallace sleeping and no facts allege that she was in any observable urgent condition. (RI: 115) The Petitioner did not allege that the Deputies made any misrepresentations about the further care of Ms. Wallace, as was the case in *Hartley*. The factual circumstances in *Hartley* are inapposite to the facts in the case at bar. There were no promises of specific law enforcement action that would create a special relationship alleged to have been made, but not followed through with, in this case as there was in *Hartley*. Therefore, the cases are not in conflict as the same law was applied, but to a different set of facts.

The Petitioner also attempts to distinguish decisions form other courts cited in the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision, which lend support to the proposition that Respondent owed Ms. Wallace no duty. See R-5 DCA: 9, n.3. However, a careful reading of the opinions show they are relevant to the case at bar. See Rose v. County of Plumas, 152 Cal. App. 3d 999, 1005 (Cal. App. 3d Dist. 1984)("Absent an indication that the police had induced decedent's reliance on a promise, express or implied, that they would provide her with protection, it must be concluded that no special relationship existed and that Petitioner has not stated a cause of action."); see also, Figueroa v. New York City Transit Authority, 152 Misc. 2d 948 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1991)("[O]fficer's discussion with individual observed near the tracks holding a baby in her arms, who was later struck and killed by an oncoming train, did not assume, through promises or actions, an affirmative duty to act on the child's behalf, nor did the officer have knowledge that inaction could lead to harm).

In addition to the cases cited in the Appellate Court's decision, there are numerous other persuasive opinions from other States that would support a finding that Respondent owed no duty to Ms. Wallace. For example, in *Braswell v*.

Braswell, 330 N.C. 363 (N.C. 1991), a case involving the death of a mother as a result of gunshot wounds inflicted by her son's father, the Supreme Court of North Carolina held that although the son's evidence was that the sheriff indicated to the son's mother that he thought she would be safe, there was no evidence of a promise made by the sheriff which would warrant a special duty and thus the facts did not support a claim. In Gilchrist v. Livonia, 599 F. Supp. 260 (E.D. Mich. 1984), the district court, applying Michigan state law, held that plaintiff's claim must fail because she cannot show under any state of facts alleged that the police owed a duty any greater than that owed the public at large. In Gilchrist, the plaintiff's husband threatened suicide, and the plaintiff called the police. She told the four officers that arrived that her husband should be hospitalized. Id. at 262. The officers took his firearms, but did not take him into custody. Id. After they left, the husband began beating his wife, who again called the police. *Id.* Two of the original officers arrived but again refused to take the husband into custody. Shortly after they left, the husband shot himself. Id. In Gilchrist the plaintiff argued that since the defendants saw that Gilchrist was mentally ill, the police had an affirmative duty to get him psychiatric treatment. The plaintiff claimed that the officers' refusal to take Gilchrist to a hospital after being alerted to his unstable condition constituted "gross negligence" and "deliberate indifference". Id. at 263. The court held the police officers were not required to take persons requiring

psychiatric treatment into custody; "what is to be done under the circumstances is left to the discretion of the officer." *Id*.

Petitioner relies heavily on the opinion in *Torres v. City of Chicago*, 352 III. App. 3d 533 (III. App. Ct. 1st Dist. 2004), which she asserts is directly on point. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, *Torres* is easily distinguished from the case at bar. In Torres, the decedent, Rivera, was located within a crime scene, which was under the control of the City of Chicago Police Department. Additionally, officers told at least one person who sought to assist Rivera to leave the area, assuming control over the scene to the exclusion of others. *Id.* at 533. Based on the above mentioned facts, the decision in *Torres* is factually distinguishable from the facts in this case.

There is no allegation in Petitioner's Second Amended Complaint that Marion County Sheriff's deputies made any express promise or assurance that they would take any specified law enforcement action as a result of visiting Ms. Wallace's home. Unlike the situation in *Torres*, the deputies in this case did not prevent others from caring for or obtaining medical care for Ms. Wallace. The deputies never promised to provide or secure medical treatment. (RI: 116) There are no facts alleging the Marion County Sheriff's deputies were dispatched to a medical emergency or that Ms. Wallace or her mother ever communicated with the Marion County Sheriff's deputies. The only communication was with a neighbor

with whom deputies communicated their opinion that Ms. Wallace was asleep. (RI: 115) The facts alleged in Petitioner's Second Amended Complaint do not give rise to a special relationship.

## B. The Marion County Sheriff's Deputies Did Not Place Ms. Wallace In A "Zone of Risk"

The Fifth District Court of Appeals decision correctly held that the Marion County Sheriff deputies, took no affirmative action which contributed to, increased or changed the risk to the decedent, which otherwise already existed. A special duty of care may arise "when law enforcement officers become directly involved in circumstances which place people within a 'zone of risk' by creating or permitting dangers to exist. . . . " Pollock, 882 So.2d at 935. This Court has noted that "[u]nder our case law, our courts have found liability or entertained suits after law enforcement officers took persons into custody, otherwise detained them, deprived them of liberty, or placed them in danger." Kaisner, 543 So.2d at 734. The premise underlying this theory is that a police officer's decision to assume control over a particular situation or individual or group of individuals is accompanied by a corresponding duty to exercise reasonable care. Where the Marion County Sheriff's Deputies did not assume any degree of control over the decedent or the situation, the "zone of risk" analysis is inapplicable. See *Pollock*, 882 So. 2d at 936. See also, Seguine v. City of Miami, 627 So. 2d 14, 18 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 3d Dist. 1993)(no special tort duty ever arose because the decedent was never in police custody and accordingly was never affirmatively placed in a zone of danger by the police).

The Second Amended Complaint does not allege the Marion County Sheriff's deputies took custody or control over Ms. Wallace. The only actions taken by law enforcement were to enter the home at the request of a neighbor, and check on the occupant. (RI: 115) The Marion County Sheriff's deputies determined that, in their opinion, the occupant was asleep. (RI: 115) The deputies' made the decision <u>not</u> to exercise control over the situation; instead, they elected to leave a side door open to the residence and allow the neighbor access to monitor Ms. Wallace and make any requests for assistance as she deemed necessary. (RI: 116) The deputies neither assumed custody over Ms. Wallace nor did they assume control of the home. (RI: 116)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Plaintiff appears to be trying to contort the custody/control concept from *Pollock* to apply to the very different facts of this case. See at 935-36. The line of cases cited in *Pollock*, however, all involve a police officer taking custody or control of an individual who is later injured based on an order or action of the police officer. *Id. Pollock* does not stand for the proposition that a mere inspection at the scene somehow creates a duty of care that would make the Marion County Sheriff's Office liable every time it responded to a scene. Otherwise, every inspection would create a duty of care because every inspection requires the inspector to be at the scene of the inspection. This overly expansive interpretation of *Pollock* would eviscerate the holdings in *Trianon* and *Neumann*, both of which indicate that a theory of negligent inspection is not cognizable.

Even if one assumes the actions of the Marion County Sheriff's deputies exerted sufficient control to create a special relationship, a tort duty with regard to an individual does not arise absent actions by law enforcement officers which directly place an individual within a "zone of risk." *Pollock*, 882 So. 2d at 935. The "zone of risk" is created by permitting dangers to exist by virtue of taking persons into police custody or otherwise subjecting them to danger. This case is tantamount to situations where law enforcement officers are alleged to be responsible for failing to rescue.

Petitioner relies upon this Court's decision in *Henderson v. Bowden*, 737 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1999) to argue that a duty arose based on a foreseeable zone of risk. *Henderson* is inapplicable to the facts as alleged in this case. *Henderson* was a wrongful death action that involved the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office's roadside detention of a vehicle, in which the decedent was a passenger. *Id.* at 533. After the deputies arrested the driver of the vehicle, for driving under the influence, they instructed an intoxicated person to drive the vehicle to a nearby gas station. *Id.* at 533. This Court held "the sheriff's deputies created a risk that, but for the roadside detention and decisions made during the detention, would not have otherwise existed." *Id.* at 536.

The allegations in this case are distinguishable from the facts presented in Henderson. First, the Marion County Sheriff's deputies did not take any actions that created a risk to Ms. Wallace. Furthermore, unlike the situation in *Henderson*, the Marion County Sheriff's deputies did not assume control over the situation. The deputies never placed Ms. Wallace in custody and never directed or controlled Ms. Wallace, who remained in her own home. Furthermore, the Marion County Sheriff's deputies did not create the risk. Despite the conclusory allegation that the deputies assumed control because they entered the home, the factual allegations clearly establish that all control was relinquished to the neighbor, Ms. Ginder. (RI: 116). There are no factual allegations that would support a finding that there was a custodial relationship or actions taken by the deputies that created a zone of risk that did not already exist. Therefore, the Marion County Sheriff's Deputies did not owe Ms. Wallace a duty of care.

## II. <u>The Undertaker's Doctrine Is Inapplicable To The Facts</u> Alleged In This Case

The Petitioner has made an overbroad application of the "undertaker doctrine' to the facts of this case. Under Petitioner's analysis, anytime law enforcement undertakes to perform any activity, a duty of care would arise. This view fails to consider the public duty doctrine under Florida law. This Court has previously noted the lack of a common law duty of care for exercising a discretionary police power function must be distinguished from those circumstances, where there has always been a common law duty, such as in the operation of a motor vehicle. *Trianon.*, 468 So.2d at 920. The Petitioner, in

reaching her argument that a duty of care existed, has heavily relied upon the Court's decision in Clay Electric v. Johnson, 873 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 2003). The Petitioner's use of *Clay Electric* is overbroad and inapplicable to law enforcement and its discretionary decision-making. In Clay Electric, the electric cooperative was sued by the family of a 14 year old boy who was killed after he was struck by a motor vehicle in an area where a street light was inoperative. *Id.* at 1184. A negligence claim was filed against Clay Electric, for their failure to maintain street lights. Id. The Trial Court granted a motion for summary judgment on behalf of Clay Electric, which was later affirmed by the district court. Id. This Court addressed the issue of whether Clay Electric owed a legally recognized duty to maintain the street lights. Obviously, the case does not involve any type of a law enforcement function or discretionary decision-making process by a law enforcement officer. This Court held that *Clay Electric* assumed a specific, legally recognized duty to act with due care in maintaining the street lights. Id. at 1186. The Court's decision in *Clay* was based in part upon the Restatement of Torts,  $\$324(a).^{2}$ 

\_

<sup>§324(</sup>a) of the Restatement sets forth the standard in assessing liability as follows:

<sup>1.</sup> One owner take gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another, which he should recognize is necessary for the protection of a third person or his things, is subject to liability to the third person for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise reasonable care to protect his undertaking, if

Clay Electric is inapplicable to law enforcement and its discretionary decision-making. The Court's opinion in Clay Electric does not contain any discussion or consideration of a discretionary function by law enforcement officers. In fact, the language in the opinion would indicate that the Court found the failure to maintain the streetlights to be operational in nature. ("[L]ong before the present accident took place, the City of Jacksonville determined that the 8500 block of Collins Road needed lighting, and streetlights subsequently were installed.") *Id.* at 1187.

Petitioner's brief alleges a direct conflict between the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in this case and the Court's opinion in *Clay Electric*. The Petitioner further alleges that the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal creates confusion on whether the "undertaker's doctrine" applies to law enforcement officers. Contrary to Petitioner's view, there is no direct conflict, but *Clay Electric* does not involve the discretionary decisions of law enforcement officers. The Petitioner is attempting to apply a prior decision of this Court to facts which are inapposite, which the Appellate Court properly rejected. Additionally,

a) his failure to exercise reasonable care increases the risk of such harm, or

b) he has undertaken to perform a duty owed by the other to the third person, or

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